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Setting up an exam answer – 15 to 20 mins for 1 hour (200-500 word) fact pattern.

1. Set external time allocation (how much for each question / set of questions).

2. Internal time allocation (how much time for each part of response).

a. Read the “call” of the question (last 2 sentences).

b. Read the question.

c. Re-read the question.

i. Question each fact’s relevance.

d. Organize the answer.

i. Organize legal issues (focus on facts and rules).

ii. Chart Side 1: Fact Pattern; Side 2: Major Legal Issues

1. Add sub-issues.

2. State issue components, even non-debatable issues.

3. IRAC each debatable issue (Issue, Basic Rule of Law, Application to Facts, Legal Conclusion)

iii. Add in relevant cases!

3. Write the answer.

· Stick to time allocations.

· Give more time to significant and more-discussed (in class) issues.

· Give more time to debatable issues.

· Outline answers to remaining questions if a full answer is not possible.

· Answer in the order presented and do not read full exam at start.
· Some issues may be non-debatable, “but if it was, the next sub-issue would be…” - get points for as many issues as possible.  State issue if it is related even if “it does not seem entirely applicable here.”
Remember: explain rule of law first, and then apply to facts!

General

a. Contract law mainly common law subject; not many controlling statutes.

b. Think about ‘ingredients’ of an opinion – legal artistry.

c. “Web” of legal questions, vs. linear analysis.

d. Possible to establish multiple COAs based on same set of facts (e.g. Art. 2 gravamen test, plus common law PP test); malpractice not to pursue all legitimate causes.

B. Legal Definition of “Contract”
a. Restatement, Second §1

i. “A promise or a set of promises for which the breach of which the law gives a remedy, or the performance of which the law in some way recognizes as a duty.”

ii. Persuasive authority; not binding, but generally recognized in common law.

b. Elements:

i. Exchange relationship

1. Offer

a. Who is the offeror?

b. What constitutes the offer?
2. Acceptance

a. What type or types of acceptance does the offer allow or require?

b. What constitutes the acceptance?
3. Consideration

a. What is exchanged by each party?

ii. Created by agreement between two or more parties (by free will/consent)

iii. Containing at least one promise

iv. Recognized as enforceable by law

c. Oral agreement usually sufficient.

i. Statute of frauds – agreement must be in writing.
C. What Makes an Agreement into a Contract?

a. What body or bodies of law apply?

i. Jurisdictional, and ‘species’

ii. Federal, state, int’l, common law, statutory, etc.

b. Under applicable law, do the parties have an enforceable contract?

i. Was there a deal?

1. Was there intent to enter the K and mutual consent through expression of individual intentions?

c. If so, what are the terms of such contract?

d. Has either party unjustifiably failed to perform the terms of such contract?

i. Was there a breach?

ii. Any excuse for breach?

e. If so, what remedies are available to the aggrieved party?

i. Available judicial remedy is “bottom line” underlying contract litigation.

f. Most typical disputes:

i. Parties dispute existence of K.

ii. Parties agree on existence of K but dispute terms.

D. Exceptions to Finding a Contract

a. Is a promise always a contract?

i. Promise as fact-based “I promise to / not to…”

1. vs. legal definition of promise.

ii. A relationship that qualifies as a contract creates legally enforceable obligations.

iii. Special ethical relationship may be exception (Ex: Cohen v. Cowles Media, reporter’s promise to keep source identity secret not an enforceable contract).

1. Ct. finds intent necessary, despite promise, acceptance of promise, consideration.

2. Also: public policy considerations (constitutional protection of media); lack of proof of contractual agreement.

3. See also Pierce v. Clarion Ledger
a. Exchange vs. simple moral obligation to fulfill a promise.

b. Promise not to publish before verifying information found not to be a K (Broadening of Cohen).

E. Was There an Offer?

a. Key questions in case analysis:

i. Which communication(s) were alleged to be offers?

ii. What legal standard did the Court apply to determine if an offer was made?

iii. What factors did the court weigh in favor of finding an offer?

iv. What factors did the court weigh against finding an offer?

1. Possible circumstantial factors: usage of trade, course of dealing, language, omission of language, surrounding circumstances, industry practice, etc.

a. All sources of evidence for Ct. to consider and apply to case law.

2. Legal framework factors: open terms v. detail, ability to perform v. inability, formality v. informality, unconditional v. conditional, etc.

b. Restatement, Second §24

i. “An offer is the manifestation of willingness to enter into a bargain, so made as to justify another person in understanding that his assent to that bargain is invited and will conclude it.”

ii. Manifested willingness to be bound to bargain if accepted.

c. Four requirements:

i. Proposal

1. If “offeror” tries to retain last word, it is not an offer, but an invitation to negotiate or to make an offer to the person making the proposal.

ii. Clear and definite

iii. Leaves no essential terms open to negotiation

1. Ideally will include:

a. Price

b. Item(s)

c. Expiration

d. Process for acceptance

iv. Whether “reasonable” offeree would understand offer

1. No bright line reasonableness test.

d. Preliminary Proposal v. Offer

i. Ct. must interpret when a proposal for a transaction is an offer.

1. Ex: Fletcher-Harlee Corps v. Pote Concrete (subcontractor replied to solicitation with price quotation incl. express stipulation that it was not a firm offer. Lack of firm offer bucked industry custom; FH relied on quote in making larger bid; Pote didn’t follow through w/ pricing).

a. Ct. found there was no offer and no acceptance (instead solicitation and quotation), so no K.

ii. Offer may fail test of “sufficient definiteness” if it does not include intent and ability to follow through / complete transaction.

1. Ex: People v. Braithwaite (did not meet 2-prong test offer to sell drugs, bona fide offer to sell + evidence to indicate ability and intent to sell).

a. Offeree could not garner offeror’s intent/ability from outward manifestations (no reasonable reliance).

b. “Intent” is word of art requiring interpretation re what happened b/w the parties.

c. Note: stricter burden of proof applied to criminal proceedings.

d. Does K require intention to be legally bound, or just bound? (Black market context).

e. Advertisements as Offer or Solicitation

i. Proposal to general public is typically thought of as a solicitation (invitation for buyer to make an offer/negotiate), rather than an offer.

1. “Widely disseminated proposal”

2. Statutory false advertisement liability governs misrepresentation.

ii. Exceptions:

1. If advertisement calls for performance of a specific act without further communication, and leaves nothing further for negotiation, it may constitute an offer (unilateral).

a. Depends on reasonable meaning of communication, incl. legal intention of parties and surrounding circumstances.

b. Ex1: Lefkowitz v. Great Minneapolis Surplus (target audience and completion of performance for specific item).

i. “First come, first served” language spoke directly to potential individual buyer, not general public.

ii. Facts show that some performance was promised in positive terms for something requested.

c. Ex2: Harris v. Time (opening envelope was all that was required of offeree).

i. Performance of specific act w/out further communication.

ii. Dismissed as “trifle” case.

d. Ex3: Carlill v. Carbolic Smoke Ball Co. (using ball and contracting flu fulfills acceptance when ad is to anyone who performs conditions of acceptance).

e. Ex4: Harms v. Northland Ford (Hole-in-one is acceptance by performance to win car).

iii. Jesting advertisement not a contract.

1. Ex: Leonard v. PepsiCo.

a. Leonard made offer, which PepsiCo. Rejected.

b. No words of limitation on further negotiation like in Lefkowitz.

c. No reasonable person could conclude that ad offered jet to consumers.

i. Not in catalog.

ii. Much more expensive than advertised points “price.”

iii. “Mere puffery” v. statements of fact.

iv. Note: declaratory judgment used to resolve issue of legal liability.

F. Was There an Acceptance?

a. Objective Standard for Determining Assent

i. Historical: “Meeting of the minds” required for K.

ii. Proof of Intent / Assent

1. Subjective belief/intent is intangible mental state; lacks accuracy.

2. Objective intent is apparent intent.

a. Reasonable person/meaning test for 

b. manifested/observed assent.

i. Standard of reasonableness under the circumstances governs assent if not otherwise specified.

1. Overt acts and words.

a. Ex: Signature usually means you agree to be beholden to something, unless clearly “autographing.”

2. Acting as if there is a K.

3. Highly dependent on factual context.

3. Reasonable Reliance

a. Objective test means parties are held accountable for reasonable reliance placed on words and actions.

b. Reasonable reliance based on expectations of reasonable person in position of offeror w/ similar attributes (background, experiences, commercial context, etc.).

c. What would reasonable person in position of opposing party understand intent to be based on outward manifestations?

4. Testimony re state of mind may still have probative value.

a. Ex: Kabil Devel. v. Mignot, ( asked if “believed” K was in place; subjective evidence admissible to supplement obj. evidence, if not contradictory.

i. Jury still instructed on objective intentions.

ii. “A factfinder might well believe that what a party thought he was doing would show in what he did.”

b. ( (person seeking to enforce K) has burden of proof if both sides have plausible explanations.

5. Duty to Read

a. A party who had opportunity to read K (knowing it is a K or appears to be a K), but did not, is bound by terms.  Acceptance w/out reading is risk that unread terms may later prove unwelcome.

b. Parties must be beholden to objective test.

c. Ex: James v. McDonalds (prize offer included arbitration terms, which offeree was bound by when she consented to participate in the game).

i. Cannot “pick and choose” by alleging that valid K binds D to certain obligations, but P not bound to other obligations under K.

ii. Game piece identification of Official Rules was sufficient notice of addt’l contract terms under the circumstances.

6. Deliberately Undisclosed Intent

a. Ex: Lucy v. Zehmer, deliberately undisclosed intent does not count if actions and words prove otherwise. (Zehmer argues that K was made in jest, but outward actions showed intent to create serious agreement).

i. Evidence weighed by the jury: prior dealings and relationship, testimony re parties’ state of mind after drinking, testimony re outward expressions / circumstances when signing K, etc. ( w/in reasonable person framework.

ii. Note: subjective test is not absolute; state of mind may be highly relevant in some circumstances, such as defense of drunkenness (though Ct. didn’t buy it here).

b. Acceptance Requires Agreement with Substantive Terms

i. Offeree’s response must accept the substantive terms of the offer.

ii. Disagreement with substantive terms is not acceptance; it is rejection or counteroffer.

iii. Modern case law not so rigid as “mirror image” rule requiring exact correspondence b/w offer and acceptance.

1. Response may qualify as acceptance if it includes offeree’s intent to contract and no material variations.

c. Acceptance Requires Agreement with Procedural Terms

i. Offeror as “master of offer” sets terms; offeree can accept only be prescribed method.

ii. If offer is silent on procedure, acceptance is allowed by any reasonable medium, time, manner, and method (consistent with and fairly contemplated by offer).

1. Applies to both common law and UCC Article 2.

iii. If ambiguous, terms may be interpreted by offeree and decided by jury (or sometimes court as a matter of law) if disputed.

1. Ex: Calendar days v. business days.

2. Prior methods of dealing may be persuasive re offeree’s reasonable interpretation.

d. Effective Date of Acceptance

i. General Rule: Assent must be manifested/communicated to have legal force.

1. “Freedom from contract” justice concept: should not be bound unless acceptance is manifestly indicated.

2. Acceptance must be knowing, voluntary, and deliberate act, but measured by objective standard.

a. Speaking, faxing, mailing, emailing, other “utterance.”

3. Ex: Keller v. Bones (language re “execution” invited acceptance by moment of signature rather than notice to seller; communicated acceptance was within reasonable time frame).

4. Ex: Roth v. Malson (Agreement signed in wrong place, though arguably with intent to accept.  Ct. did not recognize signature, b/c not appropriate manifestation of acceptance.  Therefore, document as “qualified acceptance” was counteroffer).

a. Dissent: handwritten terms reaffirm offer as objective manifestation of intent and therefore assent.

ii. Mailbox Rule

1. At common law, acceptance is effective once offeree mails letter of assent.

a. Use of mail must be customary and reasonably expected under the circumstances.

b. Defeated if offeror specifies that acceptance is effective on receipt.

2. Offeror’s retraction of offer is not effective until receipt by offeree.

a. Does not apply if terms expressly preclude it.

e. Inadvertent Manifestation of Acceptance

i. “Reward” cases

1. Subjective test of assent.

a. Claimant must act with intention of accepting offer.

b. No reasonable person would believe s/he was accepting a reward s/he did not know existed.  Therefore, no contract.

f. Silence as Acceptance (R2d §69)

i. Inaction is rejection unless exceptional circumstances:

1. Offeree takes benefit of offered services with reasonable opportunity to reject them, knowing compensation is expected.

a. Does not apply to goods.

2. Offeror has stated that assent may be manifested by silence, and silent offeree intends to accept.

a. Protects offeree from offeror revoking.

3. Because of previous dealings, it is reasonable that the offeree should notify the offeror if he does not intend to accept.

ii. An offeree who acts inconsistently with offeror’s ownership of offered property is bound by offered terms unless they are manifestly unreasonable.

iii. Ex: Duck Hunter v. Mallard

g. Acceptance by Agent

i. Legally binding if agent with actual or apparent authority represents party.

ii. Requires communication to offeror or offeror’s agent – principal notifying agent, who in turn does not notify offeror w/in procedural boundaries, is insufficient acceptance.

h. Acceptance by Performance (Unilateral Contracts)

i. Unilateral v. Bilateral

1. Bilateral contract formed when both parties have made promises to be performed at future date.

2. Unilateral contract formed when act of acceptance is performance instead of promise, and thus completes offeree’s duties.

a. (See Advertisements and UCC sections, above).

ii. Exclusive v. Permissive Method of Acceptance

1. Unless offer clearly requires acceptance only by performance, can be accepted by either performance or promise (vs. performance as merely possible/desired).

iii. Communication of Acceptance by Performance

1. Acceptance of unilateral contract accomplished immediately upon offeree’s completed performance (offeror’s performance remains outstanding).
a. Exceptions where performance is not instantaneous:
i. R2d, §62: Where either performance or promise is available mode of acceptance, part performance acts as promise (bilateral K), and is therefore acceptance and binding K.

1. When performance actually begins may be question of fact for the jury.

ii. R2d, §45: “Option contract” created when performance is prescribed as only mode of acceptance.
1. Can be either part performance or tender ($)

2. Protects offeree from revocation after part performance has begun (binds offeror to hold K open), but neither party yet bound to original K.

3. Both parties’ duties of performance under original K are conditional on offeree’s completion under option K.

2. R2d, §54: Notification to Offeror

a. Where acceptance by performance is invited, no notification necessary to make acceptance effective unless offer requests notification.

b. If offeree has reason to know that offeror has no adequate mean of learning about performance w/ reasonable promptness and certainty, contractual duty of offeror discharged, unless:

i. Offeree exercises reasonable diligence to notify.

ii. Offeror learns of the performance within reasonable time.
iii. Offer indicates that notification is not required.
i. Termination of Power of Acceptance

i. If one of the following becomes legally effective before acceptance becomes legally effective, offer is “off the table.”

ii. If legally effective acceptance occurs first, these factors have no bearing on contract (Ex: contract still legal despite original offeror’s death).

1. Lapse of offer

a. Lapse of specified time set by offeror

i. Deadline for acceptance need not be “reasonable” (e.g., could expire in 30 seconds if set by offeror).

ii. Specified time is not contractual promise on part of offeror; can still revoke at any time before expiration if offeree has not accepted.

iii. The more precise the specification, the less likely a dispute will arise (e.g. including time in addition to date).

b. Lapse by passage of reasonable time

i. Offer usually expires if you do nothing.

ii. “Reasonable time” may be decided by jury as factual dispute, or by court as matter of law (where no reasonable juror could differ on question of fact).

1. Ex: Vaskie v. West American Insurance Co. (offer to settle insurance claim accepted w/in a month and 9 days; insurance co. argued that SOL on claim had run before acceptance; court said question of SOL and reasonableness was a matter of fact for the jury).

2. Rejection

a. Communication by offeree that she does not intend to accept offer.

b. Can occur before lapse of specified time; if so, offeree cannot change her mind to accept.

3. Counteroffer

a. Combination of two legal acts: rejection and new offer.

b. Suggestion of change in terms (negotiation).

c. Can be deliberate or “couched” as acceptance (but actually changes terms).

d. Purported acceptance w/out change in terms, but too late or otherwise not following procedure, is also counteroffer.

4. Revocation

a. Offeror free to revoke at any time before effective acceptance; revocation only effective upon communication to offeree.

b. Revocation can be indirect if offeree hears about withdrawal from another source before acceptance.

i. Promise to keep time window open, if not part of the bargain itself, is unenforceable.

1. Unless separate exchange w/ consideration for promise to keep offer open.

ii. Ex: Dickinson v. Dodds (knowledge of sale preceded attempts at acceptance).

1. Note: Courts reluctant to expand holding; indirect revocation not often confronted.

5. Death or mental disability of offeror

a. Already effective contractual duties pass to estate or custodian.

b. Not yet accepted offers lapse b/c offeror has lost ability to form contractual intent before acceptance.

G. Standard Terms (non-UCC) and Electronic Media
a. General

i. All below usually occur w/ no negotiation; “take it or leave it” basis.

ii. Usually valid and enforceable Ks, despite imposition of terms, provided they satisfy standard for fundamental fairness – what might reasonably be expected in a K of that kind and are reasonably conspicuous so that they fairly come to the attention of the non-drafting party.

1. Differs from classical model: too late to add terms once K is formed.
iii. Existence of K and terms of K can take effect at different times.

iv. Today’s reasonable consumer has expectations re incorporation of some unseen terms.

1. Awareness is an issue.

v. See Battle of the Forms for UCC treatment.

b. Shrink-wrap terms

i. Included in container

ii. Not typically seen by buyer until opening purchase @ home.
iii. Common law approach is to treat as ineffective unilateral “attempt to add terms” once K is already formed.

1. One cannot agree to hidden terms.

iv. Contemporary law recognizes realities of modern packaging; Cts sometimes willing to be more flexible.

c. Box-top terms

i. Printed on outside of container

ii. Notification improves prospect of seller binding buyer b/c notified of terms at time of K formation.

iii. Rule: Terms are part of original sale offer; buyer accepts by opening box; consumers have 1) notice of condition 2) chance to reject contract. 

1. Ex: Arizona Cartridge v. Lexmark (buyer promises to send back empty ink cartridge in exchange for discounted price)

a. Consumer has chance to reject before opening clearly marked container.

b. Consideration also present in form of reduced price in exchange for limits placed on cartridge’s reuse.

d. Click-wrap terms

i. Included website link or pop-up box.

ii. Problems of notice and assent.

1. Ex: Sprecht v. Netscape (terms were contained low down on webpage; had to scroll to be visible – reasonably prudent internet user would not have known about the addt’l terms, so no “reasonable notice”).

a. An offeree is not bound by inconspicuous contractual provisions of which he is unaware – offeree not on “inquiry notice.”

i. Not same as duty to read.

b. Informed consent especially important for terms like arbitration.

iii. Consumer not bound by terms if reasonable user wouldn’t have known/ learned of terms (no reasonable notice and can’t assent to terms w/o intention).

e. Rolling contract

i. Acceptance does not take place at point of purchase; K deferred until the buyer has had a chance to see standard terms and then accept or reject (such as terms included in electronic software).

ii. “Cash now, terms later” – exchange of $ precedes communication of detailed terms.

1. Courts split.

2. Pro-Offeror Rule: buyers of computer software must obey shrink-wrap terms unless terms are objectionable on grounds applicable to contracts in general.

a. Not practical to put all language on outside of box.

b. Buyer could not accept terms by returning software.

c. Ex: ProCD v. Zeidenberg (buyer used product commercially contrary to stated terms)

i. Policy rationale and normative basis.

ii. Ct argued that notice of license on box was agreed-upon term; referred to and incorporated all hidden license terms.

iii. Notice on the outside, terms on the inside, and a right to return for a refund if terms are unacceptable is appropriate means of doing business.

1. Return would prevent formation of K; acceptance occurs when he keeps product for a reasonable amount of time (UCC allows K formation in any manner sufficient to show agreement).

2. Acceptance is to all terms in license – stand or fall together.

iv. Trial court said K was formed upon payment; no addt’l terms added thereafter.

d. Ex: Concert tickets w/ terms on the back; to us the ticket is to accept the terms, even if in retrospect they seem disadvantageous (me: seems unfair since these transactions are usually non-refundable).

3. Pro-Offeree Rule: Clauses of agreement considered additional terms and not part of contract.

a. No chance for negotiation; return not always a real option.  Terms subject to change by seller at any time.

b. Ex: Licitra v. Gateway (suit re faulty computer and refusal of refund allowed in small claims court, despite arbitration clause)

i. Other courts have held that K formed when package is opened and consumer uses equipment for specified period of time set forth in written agreement.

ii. Not true of all terms – requires interpretation.

iii. Policy considerations re application of state law and arbitration as “extra terms”: Can’t be bound to very term you are disputing w/out some reasonable opportunity to reject.

iv. Amounts to one side imposing terms and conditions on other w/out negotiation.  No procedure to amend or question the terms; terms often subject to change by seller.

c. Ex: Casavant v. Norwegian Cruise (wanted to cancel cruise after 9-11; brought suit in MA though arbitration clause says suits must be brought in FL) 

i. Manner and means of delivery of terms did not fairly allow option of rejecting K with impunity.

1. Incl. lack of reasonable time period for rejection.

2. Implied acceptance (silence) is exceptional; not a good defense.

ii. Standard terms which are not negotiated should be subject to stricter scrutiny for fundamental fairness.

f. Offer and Acceptance through Electronic Media

i. Common law rules apply.

ii. Technology programmed to execute transactions automatically can be valid manifestation of human assent; governed by Uniform Electronic Transactions Act and E-SIGN, widely enacted by states.

1. If one of parties is electronic agent and the other human, human party must have means to agree to or to refuse the transaction and must reasonably understand that his actions will lead to a K.

H. Preliminary, Incomplete and Indefinite Agreements
a. General: Tension b/w honoring parties’ intention to be bound and forcing parties to abide by terms set by Court.
i. Honoring Parties’ Intention to be Bound
1. Spectrum of approaches:
a. No K.
b. K for some purposes, with some terms enforced by others too vague to be enforced.
c. K, and Ct. will find a way to plug ambiguities
ii. Terms Set by the Court
1. Traditional common law: would require more express terms and more express manifestation of intention to be bound.

2. Today: K must be unquestionably clear and complete.

iii. What Do Parties Do if There is a Missing Term?

1. Spectrum of approaches:

a. “Agreements to agree” – if something comes up, we’ll figure it out.

i. Problematic; manifests intention not to be bound.

b. Enough definite terms may be sufficient evidence to be binding.

c. “What can be made certain is certain” – OK if clear mechanism for future process re terms is agreed upon.

iv. Intention to be Bound to Negotiate in Good Faith

1. Some courts will find a K to negotiate.

2. Problematic b/c difficult to see what constitutes good/bad faith.

3. Courts will require there be a structure upon which to base remedy, to make K enforceable.

b. Informal Preliminary Understanding Distinguished from K.

i. Ex1: Zimmerman v. McColley (re settlement of insurance claim for lump sum; insurer later tried to add terms re structured settlement).

1. Intention to be bound found by court b/c:

a. Contained offer and acceptance.

b. Acceptance based on willingness to settle and understanding of offer from offeror’s prior conduct.

c. Addt’l terms not enforceable as part of K.

ii. Ex2: Einhorn v. Mergatroyd (re director who staged show and then was fired and not paid under K)

1. Existence of K debatable

a. Discussion of written K; did oral K exist before written K? 4 part test:

i. Expressed reservation of right not to be bound in absence of writing?

ii. Partial performance of K?

iii. All terms of alleged K agreed upon?

iv. Type of K that is usually committed to writing?

iii. Ex3: Norkunas v. Cochran
1. Letter of intent not an enforceable K in real estate.

2. K must contain not only terms but also manifestation of intent to be bound.

3. Statement re potential follow-up w/ more paperwork does not always defeat oral K, but might due to complexity of transaction and industry custom.

c. “Agreement to Agree” and Deferred Agreement

i. Does manifestation of agreement qualify as final contract? (Matter of interpretation).

1. Examine language in context.

2. Examine extent to which parties have settled material terms of relationship.

3. If Ct. is persuaded that parties intended a K despite unresolved term, may be basis for Ct. to give content to term and find K.

a. Ex: Arbitron v. Tralyn (radio data licensing agreement included agreement that one side unilaterally adjust prices re future station acquisitions).

i. Process for determining future price was agreed upon (vs. agreement to determine process/price later if issue arises).

ii. Often expressly manifest agreement not to be bound.

d. Indefiniteness / Vagueness

i. K formation precluded if not possible to ascertain what parties agreed to. Yet, courts reluctant to disappoint expectations if K intended.

1. Ex1: Baer v. Chase (Baer assisted Chase w/ creation of The Sopranos.  No K as a matter of law b/c no intention to be bound (nothing to be bound to) – agreement not distinct, specific, and definite enough in terms to be enforceable).

a. Missing essential/material terms (price, duration)

b. If no basis for remedy (no agreed-upon salary/benefit), not sufficiently definite K.

2. Ex2: B. Lewis v. Angelou (Not appropriate for MSJ b/c question of fact re K; argument re failure of definiteness – no actual obligation to provide works).

a. Implied promises – Cts tend to find that if parties intended a K, implying promises to avoid finding of illusoriness protects the reasonable expectation of the parties.

e. Agreements to Bargain in Good Faith

i. Parties may have preliminary K in which both committed to continue good-faith negotiation.

ii. Usually not imposed absent express agreement, but sometimes found to be implied.

1. Ex: Jenkins v. County of Schuylkill (parties not bound to negotiate).


iii. If found, remedy would be reliance expense (amount aggrieved party spent & opportunities they lost).

iv. Three part test for enforceability:

1. Whether both parties manifested an intention to be bound by agreement.

2. Whether the terms of the agreement are sufficiently definite to be enforced.

3. Whether there was consideration.

f. Interference with contract relations (tort): liability may be imposed for enticing party to breach K or preliminary agreement with another party.

i. Where valid K exists, and 3d party (knowing of existence of K) intentionally and improperly procures or induces breach.

I. The Statute of Frauds
a. General

i. Required by statute for certain Ks; writing proves existence of K and avoids fraudulent claims.

1. Exception to general rule finding legally enforceable K only based on intention to be bound.

2. Oral agreements not enforceable if type of K is subject to SOF.

ii. Cts often hostile to SOF; liberal in deciding what satisfies requirements (“wisp” of evidence).
iii. Used as Affirmative Defense

1. ( may attack a breach of K claim by arguing that the alleged contract must satisfy SOF.  If ( can’t satisfy statute, claim is dismissed. If ( can satisfy the statute, case continues.
b. Requirements of SOF: Record, Signature, Content

i. R2d §131: a writing, signed by the party to be charged, satisfies the statute of frauds if (a,b,c):

1. it reasonably identifies the subject matter of the contract,

2. it is sufficient to indicate that a contract has been made, or offered by signer,

3. and it states with reasonable certainty the essential terms of the unperformed promises in the contract.

ii. The Writing or Record

1. Form not very important.

a. Electronic writings (e.g. emails) are fine

b. Does not have to be deliberately made to record the contract (purpose is to demonstrate that K exists, not to establish terms or remedy)

c. Can be cobbled together from different writings

i. Only one must be signed.

d. Examples: sales forms, emails, invoices, internal memos.

iii. Signature

1. Must be signed by party against whom K is to be enforced (or agent).

2. Only needs to appear on one of the writings.

3. “Any symbol made or adopted with an intention, actual or apparent, to authenticate the writing as that of the signer.” (R2d §134)

a. Includes initials, thumbprint, arbitrary codes, stamps, etc.

4. Email: “to qualify as a signature, the electronic symbol must be consciously made or adopted by the signatory.”

a. Email address only arguably a signature, but could count.

b. Problem of fraud.

iv. Content

1. Must show:

a. K was made

b. Subject matter

c. Material unperformed terms

2. UCC 2-201 flexible for most terms, allowing writing to omit some or state some incorrectly, so long as it demonstrates existence of K.

a. BUT quantity term must be explicit; K only enforceable for quantity of goods stated in the writing.

c. How To Use the Statute of Frauds:

i. Is K subject to the statute of frauds? If no, stop. If yes, proceed.

ii. Is there a signed writing in sufficient form to satisfy the statute? If yes, stop; K satisfies statute. If no, K unenforceable unless answer to iii is yes.

iii. Is there an exception to the statute of frauds for this K?

1. Exceptions are “scarce and specific,” so answer to iii is usually “no.”

2. Does Ct create an exception by finding K despite non-compliance w/ SOF?

d. The 6 types of Contracts Covered by the Statute of Frauds

i. Contracts to Answer for the Debt or Obligation of Another

1. Surety contracts: like getting cosigner on a lease

ii. Contracts of Executors or Administrators to Answer for the Duty of Decedents

1. Specialized form of surety contract

iii. Contracts made upon Consideration of Marriage

1. Prenups

iv. Contracts for Sale of Land or Transfer of an Interest in Land

1. Sale, lease, mortgage of land

v. Contracts that Can’t be Performed Within a Year of Execution

vi. Contracts for Sale of Goods for Price of $5,000 or More

1. Note: Pre-revision is $500.

e. New provisions incorporated by states: Ks made in infancy, revival of obligation to repay debt after SOL passed, etc.

f. Contracts at Common Law: Sales/Transfers of Land and Contracts not Performable within One Year of Execution

i. Sales or Transfers of Land

1. Ex: Roberts v. Karimi (Seller reneged on oral agreement for sale of home, then argued that K didn’t satisfy SOF. But he signed affidavit about oral agreement and letter to buyer – satisfies writings req.).

ii. Contracts not Performable Within One Year of Execution

1. Courts very hostile to this provision - will go to lengths to exempt oral agreements from SOF, and are willing to stretch to let writings satisfy the statute.

a. Ex: Klewin v. Flagship Properties (oral agreement failed to specify time of performance is K of indefinite duration and outside purview of SOF.  Statute only covers agreements explicit about performance lasting +1 year, not those merely likely to take +1 year).

b. Some courts aren’t as hostile: Tucker v. Diocese of Lafayette and Roger Edwards v. Fiddes held oral agreements of indefinite duration covered by statute of frauds

c. Revised UCC 2-201 makes clear 1-year rule doesn’t apply to sales of goods.
g. Part Performance Exception to the Statute of Frauds Relating to Contracts at Common Law

i. Partial performance of oral K may provide enough proof of the K’s existence to justify enforcement despite noncompliance with statute.

ii. However, courts hesitate to apply exception.

1. Ex: Coca Cola v. Babybacks: initial performance of multi-year K too ambiguous to prove K for ongoing relationship.

2. Most commonly applied to sales of land.

a. E.g., building house on land.

b. Some states confine exception to suits for specific performance.

c. Only explanation for performance must be that there was a K; performance doesn’t satisfy exception if it can be otherwise explained.

h. UCC 2-201. Formal Requirements; Statute of Frauds

i. 2-201(1): Contract for sale of goods over $5,000 requires record sufficient to indicate contract, signed by party against whom contract is to be enforced or agent. Record can omit or incorrectly state terms, but contract can only be enforced for quantity of goods in the record.

ii. 2-201(2): Merchant’s Confirmation Exception: A record from the party alleging breach can satisfy the UCC’s statute of frauds if it is sufficient against the sender and if the recipient had reason to know its contents, unless objection is given in record within 10 days of receipt.

iii. 2-201(3) provides multiple exceptions to 2-201(1), describing when contracts can be enforced even though they don’t meet the statute’s initial requirements.

1. Specially Manufactured Goods: K for sale of specially manufactured goods enforceable (goods you can’t sell to anyone but the person who ordered them) if substantial beginning in manufacture and/or committed to buy necessary materials. 

2. Litigation-Admission: K for sale of goods enforceable if reneging party admits in litigation that such a K existed (but can’t enforce beyond quantity admitted).

3. Goods-Paid-For: K for sale of goods enforceable if payment has been accepted or if the goods have been received and accepted.

iv. One-year performance rule does not apply to UCC.

v. Ex1: Intl. Casings Group v. Premium Standard Farms (emails satisfy UCC statute of frauds; clicking send is adequate signature).

vi. Ex2: Bazak Intl. Corp. v. Tarrant Apparel (email from one merchant to another satisfies Merchant’s Confirmation Exception, sufficient to satisfy SOF. Whether email was received, or whether there was “reason to know” contents of email are issues of fact; SJ inappropriate).

J. Consideration

a. General:

i. Do the parties have an enforceable contract w/ consideration?

ii. Evidence of exchange v. simple moral obligation to fulfill promise.

iii. Peculiar to U.S. legal system; distinguishes common law Ks from civilian Ks.

iv. Ct. has judicial discretion re finding or not finding consideration for policy reasons (unjust enrichment, bargaining misbehavior, generosity, commercial risk shifting, etc.)

b. Case analysis:

i. What promise is the promisee seeking to enforce?

ii. What is the alleged consideration for that promise?

1. What is the legal detriment? Another promise or something else?

2. What is the relationship of the legal detriment to the promise?  Relationship of mutual inducement?

iii. Why is the alleged consideration sufficient or insufficient, according to the court?

iv. What policies motivate the Ct. in reaching its decision?

c. Policy Considerations:

i. Ct. not wanting to enforce pure gifts as contracts.

ii. Exchange shows evidence of K.

iii. Ct. less likely to find Consideration if an “air of sleaziness” around K.

d. Definition:

i. “A promise is supported by consideration if the promisee incurred a legal detriment that was bargained for.”

ii. Elements:

1. Inducement: something the promisor asks for and wants or is benefited by.

2. Legal detriment: something the promisee gives up (promise, performance, forbearance of a legal right).

a. Practical detriment, if not bargained for, is insufficient.

b. Promise is legally enforceable expectation of legal detriment/benefit (promisor takes on risk).

c. Does not apply to past transactions.

d. See Restatement, p. 265

3. Mutual inducement: The promise must induce the detriment and the detriment must induce the promise.
a. Could be detriment to promisee and benefit to promisor, but benefit not always necessary as long as detriment is induced by promise.

i. Benefit may not be “practical.”

b. Fulfills “bargained for” requirement (explicit bargaining not required).

e. Exs re Requirements of an Exchange

i. Traditionally, promise of gift cannot be enforced as contract.

1. Once gift is given / legally executed, it is enforceable.

ii. Ex1: Congregation Kadimah Toras-Moshe v. DeLeo (re decedent who made oral promise of $ to rabbi for congregation).

1. No legal benefit to promisor nor detriment to promisee.

a. Nothing given or received in exchange for promise.

b. No evidence that congregation’s plans to name library after decedent induced him to make or renew promise.

iii. Ex2: Hamer v. Sidway (re nephew who abstains from vice in exchange for $ from uncle).

1. It is enough that something is promised, done, forborne, or suffered by the party to whom the promise is made as consideration for the promise made to him.

iv. Ex3: Whitten v. Greeley-Shaw (2 promises – mortgage payment and letter re nature of relationship)

1. No reciprocal conventional inducement.  Clause in letter that D wouldn’t call him was not “bargained for” by Pl.

v. Ex4: Pennsy Supply v. American Ash (implied promise of warrantability re AggRite; detriment to promisee is disposing of material, benefit to promissory is not having costs of disposal – detriment/benefit is same thing).

1. Mutual inducement: AA’s promise to Pennsy to supply AggRite for free induced Pennsy’s detriment of collecting it, and that very detriment induced AA’s promise to supply.

vi. Ex5: Carlisle v. T&R Excavating, Inc. (re ex-husband’s promise to assist w/ construction project for free to pay back for wife’s former free bookkeeping help).

1. Consideration does not apply to past transactions (so wife gave no new consideration).

2. Consideration cannot be a motive, as opposed to an inducement.

3. Can’t bargain for something you already have (husband had interest in daycare and wife’s income).

4. Promise to reimburse for out of pocket costs is not consideration, b/c it is separate K.

f. Conditional Gifts

i. Promise is gratuitous if promisor intends to make a gift to promisee upon the performance of a condition.

ii. Fine distinction b/w condition and considerations.

1. Ex: Gentleman to bum: “If you go around the corner I’ll buy you a coat.”  Depends on gentleman’s intent – does bum’s action induce the promise (e.g. b/c man wants him to sit somewhere else), or is it simply a gift out of generosity, and going around corner is practical concern (where coat shop is)?

2. Benefit to promisor helps distinguish consideration from condition situations.

g. Adequacy

i. Not the job of the courts to review adequacy so long as bargained for; “kingdom for a peppercorn.”

1. Unless fraud, duress, etc. apply.

2. Ex: Kessler v. National Presto Industries (woman signed away rights to future claims for $750 w/out reading/understanding release; not enough to “shock the consciousness” of the court).

3. Ex: Gottlieb v. Tropicana Hotel (Casino’s consideration/benefit was increase in advertising through use of Diamond Club Card; K w/ million dollar game winner is enforceable, despite seeming disparity in amount of financial consideration).

h. Pre-existing Duty

i. Cannot count as consideration, unless something additional is given.

ii. Problematic re contract modifications.

iii. People have pre-existing duty to society not to commit crimes, but refraining from certain activity may be specific incentive for promisor.

1. Re illegal activity, additional legal detriment is required.

2. If A gives up cocaine in return for something from B, no consideration.

3. If A gives up cocaine and legal video poker, consideration.

iv. Ex: Employee can’t be bribed to do a job he was already bound to do.

v. Ex: White v. Village of Homewood (Woman signed exculpatory release re injuries incurred during fire dept. agility test. Def. had legal duty to administer the test, and pl. had right to take the test. Pl’s detriment did not induce Def’s promise).

i. Settlements

i. Under pre-existing duty rule, it is disputed whether there is consideration when promise or detriment are part of a settlement of a claim or defense.

ii. Restatement:

1. Forbearance of “valid” or uncertain claims may be C.

a. Validity determined by surrendering party’s beliefs (subjective standard).

b. Good faith: subjective “bona fide” claim with objective reasonable basis of support.

2. Forbearance of frivolous claims will not be C.

a. Unless bargained for and executed in written instrument.

b. Forbearance of frivolous claims tends to be coercion.

iii. Ex: Fiege v. Boehm (woman agreed not to sue for bastardy if suitor paid child support expenses; when he stopped paying, she sued).

1. Though blood tests later showed suitor could not be father of child, Ct. found consideration b/c woman believed she had a valid claim at time the K was made.
j. Mutuality of Obligation

i. “If the alleged K is not binding on one party due to lack of consideration it will not be binding on the other party either.”

ii. Meaningful contribution by each party in the eyes of the law.

iii. Unilateral Ks do not require M of O b/c only one promise is at stake (other party already performed).

iv. Ex1: In Re C&H News Co. (Agreement b/w employee and employer to arbitrate claims is illusory b/c incorporation of handbook w/ terms that employer can change unilaterally means no legal detriment).

1. Presents public policy concerns – employee signed agreement to keep job – something he already had (though, on the other hand, employer has right to fire at will).

v. Ex2: Wood v. Lucy, Lady Duff-Gordon (Wood seeking to enforce LD’s promise to provide and endorse her designs; his consideration was promise to do promotion and marketing and to split profits with her)

1. Implied consideration; she says profit agreement only enforced if she supplied designs that he would then market, but she’s not obligated to provide any; however, she would not have entered K if she did not intend to make profits from agreement.

2. “Instinct with an obligation…” (Cardozo).

a. A lot of obligations implied in agreement “give it some teeth.”

K. Promisorry Estoppel
a. General:

i. PE has strongest expression where lack of consideration threatens to make a promise unenforceable.

1. Reliance on promise leave promisee in worse position than before.

ii. Applied often in charitable contexts, sometimes in person contexts, rarely in commercial contexts.

1. Reliance on gratuitous promises in commercial contexts is usually unreasonable.

b. Elements:

i. Promise

1. Promisor reasonably expects promise to induce action/forbearance (promisee justifiably relied).

2. Promise must be definite.

ii. Detriment

1. Promise induces detriment, but detriment does not induce promise (conventional inducement; not reciprocal).

iii. Reliance

1. Detrimental reliance: real action or forbearance induced by promise (instead of promise of action or forbearance).

2. Reliance must be reasonable.

iv. Injustice

1. Injustice avoided only by enforcement of promise.

2. Palpable sense of injustice comes from strength of connection b/w promise and detriment.

3. Fluid concept; Cts. malleable in decisions.

c. Ex: Kirksey v. Kirksey
i. Introduced new concept of promissory estoppel; showed that consideration is sometimes insufficient to do justice.

ii. Promise to give sister-in-law place to raise family induced reliance and practical detriment of moving; he later kicked them out and said no K.

iii. Detriment did not necessarily induce promise; initial promise may have been gratuitous gift.

iv. Injustice occurs b/c she incurred detriment in order to partake of gift, and is left with less when he revokes.

d. Implementation

i. Fine line between tort COA and contract COA: affects how Cts. find remedies.

e. Personal and Charitable Contexts

i. Ex: Matarazzo v. Millers Mutual Group, Inc.
1. Water authority made a promise in course of business relationship with customers (to turn off water as requested so pipes would not freeze); Ct. finds that it should be tort negligence action.

ii. Ex: Norton v. McOsker.

1. Hoyt promised mistress Norton that he would divorce wife, establish trust fund, and support Norton for the rest of her life.

a. Promise of divorce not enforceable (policy issues)

b. Other promises too vague.

c. Norton’s reliance was unreasonable based on their history (making and breaking promises) and vagueness of the promises.

d. Maybe unable to find a job, but not necessarily in “worse place” b/c of reliance (already benefited financially).

e. Other legal issues at work? (Tort IIED; other causes of action).

iii. Ex: In Re Morton Shoe.

1. Most common PE context: charitable promises and reliance on pledged money.

2. Promise to do something in particular with pledged money is usually sufficient consideration.

3. Finding reliance:

a. “Hope or expectation” may not be (e.g. establishment of operating budge is not actual detrimental reliance).

b. Incurring legal liabilities (taking out loans, making charity’s own charitable promises, etc.) will usually be reliance.

f. Commercial Contexts

i. Ex: East Providence v. Geremia
1. Pls had security chattel mortgage on car, w/ insurance req’d by bank to whom loan $ was due. Bank promised to pay insurance when Pl. could not, tacking on interest to loan. Bank did not pay; car was totaled; security for loan gone. PE found b/c Pls would have acted differently if not relying on bank’s promise.

ii. Ex: Garwood Packaging v. Allen & Co.
1. Investment co. promised that deal would go through to save company “come hell or high water.”  No reasonable reliance b/c Garwood exec as businessman should have known about many contingencies involved (promise not definite and reliance not reasonable).

a. “Business gamble.”

b. Proof of damages not dispositive.

c. “Promise” also involved factors not entirely w/in promisor’s control.

d. Somewhat more subjective “reasonableness” standard entrenched in facts.

iii. Tour Costa Rica v. Country Walkers
1. No K, but full expectation recovery on PE.

2. Note: agreement looked like K w/ consideration, but should have been under SOF.

a. PE sometimes used to enforce a promise in context of K w/ consideration where unenforceable for some other reason (SOF, indefiniteness, etc.).

b. Injustice avoided only by enforcement.

c. Some Cts slow to adopt b/c don’t want to circumvent policies behind SOF.
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L. Options and Firm Offers
a. Spectrum of K-like obligations:
i. Full-fledged K
ii. Firm offer (offeror bound; offeree not yet bound)
1. Option K supported by consideration (R2d §87)
2. Offer to enter into unilateral K (R2d §47)
a. Part performance
3. Offer made irrevocable by P-E (R2d §87)
4. Firm offer under UCC 2-205
iii. Agreement to negotiate in good faith
iv. Promissory estoppel (R2d §90_
v. No legally enforceable obligations
b. Option K is an obligation assumed w/out a full-fledged K.
i. Makes offer temporarily irrevocable.
ii. Law can imply option K.
1. Strong common law presumption that promises are revocable unless promise to be irrevocable is supported by consideration.
c. Ex: Drennan v. Star Paving
i. Star as subcontractor wants to retract bid b/c of mistake; Drennan already relied on bid in submitting overall bid for construction job.
ii. Did Drennan’s reliance make Star’s offer irrevocable in lieu of consideration?
iii. Bid presented w/ knowledge of substantial possibility that it would be relied upon.
1. Irrevocable if injustice b/c of reliance (revocable if no injustice).
2. Cts may find it is unreasonable to rely on revocable offers.
iv. Option K supported by consideration: subcontractor implicitly promised to keep bid outstanding until knowing if contractor won overall bid.
1. Implied option K.
2. Depends on expectations of parties.
3. Industry custom: risk shifting. Impractical for contractor to make conditional Ks with all subs before knowing outcome of larger deal.
M. Was There a Breach?

a. Failure to perform

i. Justification/excuse

1. “Extraordinary circumstances” – enforcing K would lead to injustice.

2. May mean no legally actionable breach.

3. Doesn’t preclude remedy.

a. May be different than remedy requested.

b. May be equitable.

c. Ct. exercises discretion.

4. See Kiljarian under Remedies section.

b. Efficient theory

i. Free market economy: breach ok if damages pay off obligation (pl. can go elsewhere for service).

c. Moral theory

i. Contract as promise

N. Remedies

a. Remedy for breach of contract focuses on repairing economic harm, not emotional / nonpecuniary consequences.

b. Two theories:

i. Efficient theory of breach: Free market economy; breach ok if harm is repaired through damages (seems to favor the wealthy in being able to breach contracts).

1. American common law system.

ii. Moral theory: Contracts as promises.

c. Monetary damages 

i. Two promises inherent in contract:

1. Follow through.

2. If no follow through, must pay up.

ii. Typical remedy under breach of contract.

iii. Expectation damages

1. “Benefit of the Bargain” – focus on awarding compensatory sum for loss of economic benefit that plaintiff reasonably expected from the transaction.

2. Cost of substitute transaction less contract price (equals extra cost of entering into new transaction for similar performance in place of original contracted performance).

iv. Plaintiff can try to enforce award of damages, but if Defendant cannot pay, Plaintiff is at a loss and cannot recover (e.g. Defendant is bankrupt with no executable assets).

d. Specific Performance

i. Limited “equitable” remedy; court not compelled to award (like injunction).

1. Injunction may afford relief to Pl. by requiring D. to take action (mandatory injunction) or forbidding action (prohibitory injunction).

ii. More common in real estate than other areas.

iii. Courts mostly follow rule that SP is not available unless plaintiff can show that damages is inadequate remedy and the equities favor special enforcement.

1. Ex: Kiljarian v. Vastola, despite breach of house sale, specific performance would result in injustice b/c owners became sick and unable to move.

a. Justification/excuse for failure to perform.

b. Pls requested specific performance b/c house had intangible value to them (in addition to higher financing costs).

i. Entitled to reimbursement for costs associated with breach, but not SP.

iv. Why SP is not preferred: plaintiff may no longer want the service or goods that were promised (already found replacement, or prejudice against doing business w/ person who breached duty), court may not want to coax reluctant defendant (involuntary servitude), hard to enforce, etc.

O. Practical Analysis of Facts

a. Which facts are critical to the particular issue that needs to be decided?

b. Does any special kind of K law apply aside from common law?

i. U.C.C.

ii. Statute of Frauds

iii. Etc.

c. Is there offer, acceptance, consideration, and intent?  Agreement, exchange, promise, and enforceability?

d. Explore and pursue all valid causes of action based on same set of facts.

e. Example of fact analysis outline:

i. What bodies of law apply?

ii. Under applicable law, is there a K?

iii. Was there offer?

iv. If so, was there acceptance?

v. If K, was there consideration?

vi. If not, is it otherwise enforceable?

vii. If enforceable, what are terms?

viii. What remedies are available?

ix. Should P get judgment against D?

P. Sales of Goods, UCC Articles 1 and 2 (Uniform Commercial Code)

a. UCC is uniform in most states:

i. Revised Article 2 not yet adopted by states, but changes are minor.

ii. Some states made changes when enacting, but we look at official text to apply general rules.

b. Statutory contract law:

i. Designed by legislatures to apply to contracts generally, or to particular types of contracts.

1. Consumer protection, regulation of Ks w/in certain industry, forbidding discriminatory K terms, etc.

2. UCC is result of “legal realism,” designed to reflect real workings of the marketplace.

3. Codification of goods contracts under UCC:

a. Statutory law places higher standard on sellers for responsibility in selling quality goods.

b. Common law rules still apply to transactions of goods to the extent that they are not displaced by the statutory provisions.  UCC 1-103(b).

c. Meant to supplement but not undermine the Code.

c. UCC Article 2 applies to sale of goods (moveable things), not services.

i. Information transfers (intellectual property not incorporated into a tangible product) specifically excluded.

1. Note new problems of interpretation re information downloads.  Possible PP-type application re packaged software – main purpose is content, not software disc.

d. UCC Article 1 defines words and phrases used in Article 2, and sets out general statements of purpose, policy, interpretation, and approach.

i. UCC should be “liberally construed” to promote underlying policies: simplifying and clarifying law governing commercial transactions; permitting continued expansion of commercial practices through custom, usage, and agreement; and making the law uniform among jurisdictions.

1. UCC leans toward finding a K when there is ambiguity (what looks like a K?)
e. Key sections:

i. 2-102: “...this Article applies to transactions in goods...”

ii. 2-103(1)(k): “goods” 2-106(1): “sale” 2-104(1): “merchant”

iii. 1-304: “Every contract or duty within the UCC imposes an obligation of good faith in its performance and enforcement...”

f. Key concepts:

i. “Merchant” is a person dealing in goods and/or holding himself out as having knowledge or skill peculiar to the practices or goods involved in the transaction (need not be very “formal” merchant).

1. UCC applies to all sales of goods, but some sections impose special standards on merchants.

ii. “Good faith” means honesty in fact in the conduct or transaction concerned (subjective standard re state of mind) and observance of reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing (objective standard).

1. Pre-revision only required subjective standard for non-merchants.

2. Note on third parties’ good faith: a person who entrusts goods to a merchant who deals in goods of the kind cannot recover the goods from a “buyer in the ordinary course of business” who bought the goods.

iii. “Sale” is passing of title to buyer (often not actual physical titles).

g. Hybrid/mixed transactions

i. Two tests.  Ct’s choice of test may affect outcome.  Ct. may result to policy to determine application of UCC v. common law in cases where scope is difficult to determine.

1. Predominant purpose test

a. Majority approach; burden of proof to show g or s as predominant.

b. Language of the contract

c. Nature of business

i. Seller’s general purpose – perhaps greater responsibility for quality of parts sold if normally a “merchant” of goods, but less responsibility if normal business is sale of services.

d. Scope:

i. Identify significance of g/s to injury.

ii. Identify significance of g/s as part of whole transaction (primary reason parties entered into K).

iii. Identify cost percentages of g/s (final product the purchaser bargained to receive).

e. Ex: Pass v. Shelby, transaction with airplane maintenance shop involved mainly services, despite including installation of goods.

i. Plaintiff did not meet burden of proof that sale constituted primarily goods.

1. Receipts, relative costs, language in K, etc.

ii. Therefore, no Article 2 claim; case goes forward on common law principles.

2. Gravamen test

a. Allows K to be “severed” into different parts, applying UCC to goods involved by not to non-goods involved.

b. Looks only at portion of transaction upon which complaint is based (suit based on defects w/ goods vs. suit based on service provided; Pl. chooses cause of action).

c. Pools v. Sheehan, Ct. found policy of protecting consumers from defective products would be undermined by applying PP test, b/c would preclude protection where defective goods were supplied ancillary to service contract.

i. Where consumer goods are furnished as part of commercial transaction, they retain their character as consumer goods after completion of performance, and Article 2 should apply to claims for defects causing injury, even though Article 2 would not apply to transaction as a whole.

3. Where predominant purpose is not sale of goods, Court may still adopt UCC by analogy (adopt rules into common law if there is good rule/principle for disputed issue – whether or not it involves goods).

h. Contract formation under Article 2

i. 3 parts of UCC 2-204:

1. A contract for sale of goods may be made in any manner sufficient to show agreement.

a. UCC silent on definition of offer or rules addressing offers.

b. Turn to common law analysis.

2. An agreement sufficient to constitute a contract for sale may be found even if the moment of its making is undetermined.

3. Even if terms are left open, the contract does not fail for indefiniteness if parties intended to make contract and there is reasonable basis for remedy.

ii. Acceptance by performance, UCC 2-206(1)(b) and (2):
1. Shipment can act as acceptance of offer to buy goods.

a. Acts as “performance” acceptance, unless explicitly stated as accommodation.

2. Despite beginning of requested performance, offeror may treat offer as lapsed before acceptance if not notified of begun performance w/in reasonable time.

iii. Statute of Frauds applies for sale of goods over $5000 ($500 under pre-revision).  See SOF section.
1. Analysis for UCC SOF:

a. Does UCC apply?

b. Follow general SOF analytical pattern.

i. Special UCC exceptions.

c. Quantity term is requirement for enforceability.

i. Warranties and SOL

i. UCC provides warranties, where common law does not.  Lots of Art. 2 litigation, b/c warranty easier to prove than common law negligence.

ii. However, UCC usually has shorter SOL than common law Ks (based on state statutes).
j. The Battle of the Forms – UCC 2-207

i. Re “boilerplate” terms

1. Standard terms contained in preprinted forms.

2. Designed to protect interests of one party; conflict likely if seller and buyer both use standard terms.
3. Issue: whether terms put forward unilaterally by one party at or after contract formation should be included in K.

ii. Rationale and aim
1. Resolution of dualing policies:

a. Freedom of K
i. Necessary to do business
ii. Assurance of predictable and consistent interpretation
iii. Practical to allow companies, not consumers, to set terms.
b. Freedom from K
i. Supposed to be about obligations voluntarily assumed
ii. Inherent that you should not be bound w/out assent.
iii. Classical model:
1. Under “mirror image” rule, no K at all – response w/ terms at variance is rejection and counteroffer.
2. If both parties perform when standard forms are involved (such as acceptance of delivery and use of goods), party who sends last form gets their terms (“last shot doctrine”).
3. Random, creates unfair results, at odds w/ parties’ understanding.
4. UCC 2-207 attempts to resolve, though still unclear.
iv. Pre-revision

1. Comes into effect only if response to offer qualifies as an acceptance.

2. Text:

a. A definite and seasonable expression of acceptance operates as an acceptance without new terms even though it states terms additional to or different from those offered, unless acceptance is expressly made conditional on assent to the additional or different terms.
i. Offeree can use specific language in response to make sure not treated as acceptance; applies even where “expressly conditional” language is pre-printed; no K created by exchange of forms.
1. Further action or express acceptance required.

ii. But, if treated as acceptance, exchange does create K.

iii. Definite/seasonable: agreement on basic terms / essence (may be disagreement on small terms); timely.

1. Definite terms as “core business terms” – those that are “dickered” rather than periphery.

b. Once K exists, additional terms are to be construed as proposals for addition to K.
i. Some courts interpret as including “different” terms too.
c. Between merchants such terms become part of K unless subject to exceptions.
i. Express limitation
ii. Material alterations

1. K usually on terms set out in offer b/c additions are often significant, and therefore do not become part of K.
2. Guidelines: written in / varied terms (quantity, price, etc.) vs. buried standard terms (warranties, availability of remedies).
3. Materiality concerns up front perspective – when K entered into, not hindsight.
a. Something the other side would dispute at time of K formation.

iii. Objection already given
d. Conduct by both parties recognizing K is sufficient to establish K (even if writings don’t agree); terms include those in agreement as well as supplementary terms.
i. See entire UCC text.

3. Rejects “mirror image.”  Response to offer containing addt’l terms can (but does not always) qualify as acceptance if can be reasonably interpreted as showing intent to accept (communicated “seasonably”).
4. Ex: Lively v. Ijam (Ct. found parties had K when computer was accepted.  Invoice sent later, containing forum selection clause, did not become part of K b/c Lively was consumer (not merchant), and new provisions were proposals for addition to K, to which he did not expressly agree).
a. Ct. considers Lively as possible merchant too; still no new terms b/c material alteration at issue.
5. Ex: Wachter Management (similar to Ijam – proposal w/ no express agreement).
v. Direct conflict terms
1. “Offer controls” approach
2. Objection in advance (first communication gets terms)
3. “Knock out” – K becomes silent on issue; both terms out of K.
vi. “My terms only”
1. Treated as proposal for addition to K, or if no K yet formed, still no K b/c not definite expression of acceptance.
vii. Analytical path:

1. Does communication apply addt’l or different terms than originally proffered?
2. Is yes, was there K before writing proposing additions? (Was there a deal when this particular writing was sent?)
a. Yes: 2-207(2)
b. No: Does writing form K?
i. Yes: 2-207(2)
ii. No: Does conduct form K? (2-207(3))
1. Yes: 2-207(3)
2. No: No K
viii. Post-revision
1. A definite and seasonable expression of acceptance in a record operates as an acceptance even if it contains terms addt’l to or different from the offer.
2. Ct. interprets and decides definite expression of acceptance.
3. Looks at offer and acceptance; retains terms on which forms agree and abandons discrepant terms; gaps left over are filled in by common law or UCC gap fillers; incorporates mutual terms that are not in record but are agreed to.
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